m Norther States Power Company
414 Nicolie! Mall

Minneapohs Minnesota 554¢1
Telephone (612) 330-5500

December 16, 1983

Mr Richard C DeYoung, Director
Office of Inspection and Enforcement
U S Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D C 20555

MONTICELLO NUCLEAR GENERATING PLANT
Docket No. 50-263 License No. DPR-22

Response to NRC Enforcement Letter Dated November 22, 1983

This refers to the notice of violation and proposed imposition of civil penal-
ties issued by the Director of Office of Inspecticn and Enforcement, NRC, to Mr
C E Larson, NSP, dated November 22, 1983, Two alleged violations were
referenced in this report. Pursuant to 10CFR2.201 and 10CFR2.205, the follow-
ing report is herewith submitted.

In response to the violation designated as A in the notice of violation report:
NSP agrees that 49CFR 173.245(b)(1) was violated.

Description of the Event

In May of 1983, the fill-head for the Chem-Nuclear mobile solidification unit
had become contaminated to che extent that it was an external exposure hazard
to perso~nel in the area. Decontamination failed and a new fill-head was
obtained to veplace the contaminated equipment.

Because of the exposure rates on the contaminated fill-head, it had to be made
inaccnssible to personnel. By placing it into a steel LSA box and posiiioning
the box yithin a high radiation area, accessible whole body dose rates greater
than 1000 mr/hr were prevented and the requirement to lock the area was nega-
ted. The fill-head remained as described for several months, for it was
Chem=Nuclear's intention to have the equipment returned to Bacnwell for refur-
bishing.

On September 15th, the Chem-Nuclear ope:ator stationed at Menticello notified
the radioactive material shipping coordinator that a shieldad van was enroute
to Monticelln to retrieve the contaminated fill-head. The truck arrived on the
following moriing.
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discussed with the personnel involved in the specific shipment, plus those who
may be involved in future shipments to ensure that the cause and possible
preventive measures for this event are understood.

Date When Full Compliance Will Be Achieved

The shipping procedures #8089 and #8077 were revised and approved October 6,
1983, only 20 days after the event was identified in accordance with the policy
setforth in Section IV.A of 10CFR Part 2, Appendix C.

With respect to the analysis of the event, the following is offered:

This evert did not result in a release of radioactive material to the environ-
ment and did not present radiation exposure hazards for the general public in
excess of allowable limits,

The hole did permit a small amount of radioactive material to escape the ship-

ping packaace even though the majority of the contamination was fixed; however,

the contamination was confined to a small area directly below the box on the

hed of the enclosed trailer. (Chem-Nuclear surveys indicated < 4000 dpm/100

em, within applicable limits.) Chem-Nuclear personnel attended to this matter
and safely disposed of the material.

The exposu:e rates on the box did exceed the limits for the mode of transport,
hut the exposure rates measured on the accessible surfaces of the vehicle were
within the limits established for all radioactive shipments. Since this was an
exclusive use shipment, there was no occasion for the driver or other member of
the general public to enter the trailer and be exposed to the excessive dose
rates.

Section 1 of 1°CFR Part 2 states "the purpose of the NRC enforcement program is
to promote and protect the radiological health and safety of the public,
including employees' health and safety, the common defense and security, and
the environment ..." and "each enforcement action 1is dependent on the
circumstances of the case and requires the exercise of the discretion after
cons ideration of these policies and procedures."

It should be noted as addressed in Section III of 10CFR Part 2, Appendix C that
the exampies given in Supplement V (Transportation) of 10CFR Part 2, Appendix C
do not create new requirements, They are neither exhaustive nor controlling.
It states that, "in each case, the severity of a violation will be character-
ized at the level best suited to the significance of the particular violation",
therefore to assess the violation as a Severity Level III merely because it
appears as an example implies a mechanistic approach to the deteminaticn of
severity levels, which is contradictory to Section VI of 10CFR Part 2, Appendix
C.

Based on the extenuating circumstances addressed above, Northern States Pewer
respectfully requests that the violation be reconsidered as a Severity Level V
and the enclosed $2500 be remitted. We would also like to state, that Northern
States Power is fully aware of its responsibilities to the health and safety of
the public and recugnizes the importance of properly packaging materials for
shipment. This was demonstrated by NSP's prompt attention to the
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